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           5   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  First of all I'd like to welcome you

           6       formally to this hearing of the inquiry being conducted

           7       under the equality Act, and which is predicated upon

           8       establishing the extent to which there is human rights

           9       culture in England and Wales and the extent to which

          10       there are barriers to that culture.  The ways in which

          11       service providers have managed to get round the barriers

          12       or to achieve a delivery of human rights, despite the

          13       barriers, and the extent to which work requires to be

          14       done by all the organisations of government, including

          15       this Commission.

          16           If I could introduce Prof. Francesca Klug, who is

          17       the lead commissioner of this inquiry and my name is

          18       Nuala O'Loan and I'm chairing the inquiry.

          19           We want in this particular session to explore the

          20       impact of the Human Rights Act on the religion and

          21       belief communities and in particular to understand the

          22       potential of the Act to provide a framework for

          23       resolving disputes and promoting community cohesion.

          24           Louise is our Palantypist.  Now she will record

          25       every word you say.  She's not taking minutes.  She asks
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           1       that you speak clearly and not too quickly, as indeed do

           2       I.  If necessary, she'll wave and me and interrupt and

           3       I think it's very important that we get an accurate

           4       record of what it is you want to say to us.

           5           If we ask you any questions which you don't

           6       understand, please feel free to ask us for

           7       clarification.  You do have the right to -- you were

           8       asked whether you were prepared to give evidence in

           9       public and I think you all indicated that you were.  If

          10       that is no longer the case or at any stage if you want

          11       to go private session if you would indicate that to me.

          12       Thank you.

          13           Now I normally invite my witnesses to make

          14       a statement not exceeding two minutes about their

          15       organisation if they wish so to do.  So would you like

          16       to do that.  Start at this side.

          17   MS HANNE STINSON:  The British Humanist Association is an

          18       association that aims to promote humanism and support

          19       and represent humanists specifically but also

          20       non-religious people more generally.  We are totally

          21       committed to equality and Human Rights, including the

          22       rights of the religious.

          23           The three areas that we work in are the provision of

          24       humanist ceremonies, that's funerals, weddings, naming

          25       ceremonies, education work, which isishas increased quite
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           1       a lot since the national framework for which religious 
education

           2       was adopted, because although there's only

           3       a weak reference to humanism, it is there, so many

           4       schools are now teaching about humanism within the RE

           5       curriculum.  So we provide resources for teachers and 
students, and

           6       a little bit of teacher training but we have very

           7       limited capacity.  The third area is the whole area of

           8       lobbying and campaigning for equality on religion and

           9       belief and indeed for Human Rights for the

          10       non-religious.

          11   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.

          12   DR ANNA BEHAN:  The National Secular Society was founded in

          13       1866 and it campaigns to challenge religious privilege

          14       and essentially we are -- we aim to separate church and

          15       state.  We are a campaigning organisation first and

          16       foremost, and we are dedicated to equality and human

          17       rights principles.

          18   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  May I just interrupt you for 1 minute.

          19       Sorry.  Carry on.

          20   DR ANNA BEHAN:  But we seek to represent the non-religious,

          21       and we do not have many basis of belief, particularly,

          22       it's just as I say, the non-religious generally.

          23   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.  Mr Bartlet?

          24   MICHAEL BARTLET:  The Religious Society of Friends is

          25       a worshipping community and a religious denomination of
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           1       round 16,000 members.  From our foundations in the

           2       early 17th century, the Society of Friends has had

           3       a strong emphasis on the rights of individual

           4       conscience, and a commitment to justice and peace.  The

           5       Society of Friends, in its origins, at the time of the

           6       English civil war, showed a commitment to human rights

           7       that precedes the universal declaration of human rights

           8       by around 300 years.  And in giving evidence today, the

           9       answer to my questions draws on my experience as

          10       a member and as Parliamentary liaison secretary for the

          11       Religious Society of Friends.

          12           I've been strengthened by the views and guidance

          13       I've received from other members, but my answers cannot

          14       be said to represent a formal position on behalf of

          15       the society.

          16   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  That's very helpful thank you very much

          17       indeed.

          18           Can I then move to my first area I want to explore.

          19       I just wanted to ask you what you think are the maximum

          20       three key Human Rights areas, which affect those who you

          21       represent in England and Wales today and the secondary

          22       would be what had been the most significant impact of

          23       the Act on your work?  I think you've already said,

          24       Ms Stinson that you use human rights arguments in your

          25       policy and lobbying work.  Who would like to launch

                                             4

           1       that?

           2   MS HANNE STINSON:  The first one, the one we spend a great

           3       deal of effort on, is the whole area of education.  Both

           4       access to education and in the way that's it's provided.

           5       I don't know how much detail you want, but I think

           6       discrimination on the basis of belief in faith schools

           7       is a really major issue, and religious schools are

           8       presented very often as meeting the rights of parents to

           9       have their children educated in conformity with their

          10       beliefs but in fact for many parents it's exactly the

          11       opposite because there are many children who for

          12       particular reasons go to particular faith schools but

          13       don't share that belief and the parents don't share

          14       their belief but it's also the assumption that many

          15      children share the beliefs of their parents but when they

          16       don't.  So you've got the issue about faith schools and

          17       also about collective worship, the fact that there is

          18       compulsory collective worship of a broadly Christian

          19     nature.  I think that’s an infringement of human rights in
          20    practice despite obviously that the parents have a right to
          21       withdraw, but in practice that doesn't very often happen

          22       because they don't want to mark out their child as

          23       different but also because in many schools, and this

          24       isn't in faith schools but it's also in ordinary

          25       community schools,,. And there is also the fact that 
                  religion is often covered in other areas of the 
parents curriculum,  and of course 
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           1       can't withdraw from that. That’s particularly in primary

           2       schools where you have that cross curricular approach.

           3       So if there are problems with human rights it's actually

           4     that although the parents have a right to have their child

           5       educated in the way that conforms with their own

           6       beliefs, it is actually designed to prevent state

           7       indoctrination of children.  In fact that is what

           8       happens in practice, in faith schools but also in

           9     community schools if the parents don't share the Christian

          10       beliefs taught in community schools.

          11   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Okay, thank you.

          12   MS HANNE STINSON:  That's one area.  I could go on.  The

          13       other areas I think are, the overall privilege

          14      that's the given to religion and to religious leaders and 

          15       communities, and in a very wide range of Government

          16       policies.  All government departments have some kind of

          17       focus on faith and it is faith rather than religion or

          18       belief and the particular culprit, if I can put it that

          19       way, is community and local government where they

          20       actually have been given a formal remit and it comes

          21     right from the top for race and faith rather than race and

          22     religion and or belief.  And that pervades everything they

          23       do so it means that work on everything from the general

          24       outreach to communities is focused on faith, people are

          25       reached through faith rather than through other kinds of
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           1       aspects.  The whole cohesion strategy focuses on faith. 

           2       despite a few little words in the introduction of the

           3       recent interface strategy all the practical guidance is

           4       on faith and that of course is then translated at

           5       a local level so Government departments and local

           6       authorities consult faith groups on a very wide range

           7  of issues, but were not the non-religious and work with faith

           8       groups on developing services and meeting people's needs

           9    and were on the local and national cohesion agenda.  Which,
          10       focuses on faith, which strikes us as not only excluding

          11       us but of course it also excludes a whole range of other

          12     people, because interface with work by definition can only

          13       actually involve those who are actively involved in

          14       a religious organisation, and that's only a small

          15       percentage of the population. But they feel they've

          16       reached the whole population.

          17           I think the third area would be public services and

          18      the contracting out of public services to faith

          19       organisations, which then, because of the exemptions

          20       they have in equality legislation are permitted to

          21       discriminate more than if they were any other kind of

          22       organisation.  And some discriminate across the board

          23       when they're providing a contractual public service or

          24  similar foundations function like that and also discriminate 

          25      in the way they provide the service so they may be
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           1       providing the service within a religious context, with

           2       prayer and all sorts of things regardless of the beliefs

           3 of the of the individual service user, and that can also 

           4       impact on other aspects and characteristics of the 
                   people they're providing care or

           5       assistance for, for example on gender, sexual

           6       orientation and so on.  It's not just about religion and

           7       belief.

           8   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.  We seem to be going this way

           9       across the table.  Dr Behan?

          10   DR ANNA BEHAN:  I think what I was going to see would follow

          11       on very much from what Hanne has said and in fact even

          12       down to the identification of the three areas, I would

          13       start with public services, I believe there is a major

          14       concern for us is the delivery of services via faith

          15       based organisations, and the impact, the way that

          16       section 6 of the Human Rights Act has been interpreted.

          17       We're very concerned about the how the development of

          18       this functional public authority, for the reasons that

          19       Hanne has said, that rights seem to be protected on an

          20       almost accidental basis according to who is delivering

          21       them, not on the needs of the recipient, and that this

          22       can affect delivery to people, and discriminate against

          23       them on the basis of their religion or belief.

          24           I endorse everything Hanne said about the whole idea

          25       of accessing citizens via their religion, which seems to
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           1       be more and more a feature of the Government approach at

           2       the moment.  Not only does it require people to identify

           3       themselves in a way in which they may not wish to, it

           4       can trap people into an identity that challenges who

           5       they really feel they are.  But it also reinforces those

           6       very avenues instead of widening access so if someone is

           7       identified as in a hard to reach community, perhaps via

           8       language or lack of community with the outside world,

           9       that that this reinforces some of the barriers keeping

          10       those position in that position.

          11           The other area that Hanne mentioned and again

          12       I endorse everything she said both as our position too,

          13       education -- I don't think has been particularly touched

          14       or, it doesn't seem that things that we have been

          15       fighting about in education have particularly improved

          16       or been changed by human rights landscape.  I'm thinking

          17       just Hanne did mention the collective worship debate

          18       which I think is a very instructive one, if you take the

          19       narrow point, there's been wider debate on compulsory

          20       religious education but that has extraneous points.

          21           This is compulsory worship is requiring young

          22       people, who may be perfectly competent to attend and

          23       more than attend, take part in, religious service,

          24       religious worship, whether they wish to or not, and

          25       I don't think the debate, with the recent amendment to
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           1     the of Education and Skills Bill, dealt with some of this,

           2       the debate did not seem to me to be centred on human

           3       rights principles and indeed, one of the justifications

           4       given for maintaining collective worship was the

           5       administrative difficulty to the school, despite the

           6       fact that the JCHR that made the fact that -- had

           7       pointed out that administrative burdens alone are not

           8       enough to displace the rights of the child, not

           9       necessarily a requirement for interference.

          10           I find that example, it's just one example but it's

          11       instructive of an outlook in which, if a Human Rights

          12       landscape had really developed in this country I think

          13       the debate could have been had, perhaps with the same

          14       outcome but on very different terms and I think it

          15       actually would have had a very different outcome.

          16           I think yes, I just say I think three areas were

          17       exactly those that Hanne outlined: public services,

          18       education and access.  And I worry greatly about the

          19       cohesion aspect of ignoring the existence of the

          20       non-religious.

          21   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.  Mr Bartlet?

          22   MICHAEL BARTLET:  Thank you.  I'd say firstly how to balance

          23       conflicting rights and I think Ladele and London Borough

          24       of Islington illustrates that very well.  Secondly, how

          25       to ensure that human rights are given substantive form
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           1       rather than becoming simply a mantra, in the way that

           2       sometimes health and safety has, human rights are too

           3       important to simply become a mantra.  I.e.  a right to a                

           4       fair trial for instance requires adequate access to

           5       legal aid.

           6           Thirdly, the ambiguous role of the state, both as

           7       a guarantor of human rights, and as an agent in limiting

           8       them, this has been illustrated in the so-called ‘war

           9       against terrorism’ where administrative detention has

          10       been defended in the interests of guaranteeing

          11       a positive right to life.

          12           I think there's also a need to be clearer in the use

          13      of terms, i.e., in distinguishing between human rights as

          14       something which inher in people simply because they're

          15       human and civil liberties which for most part follow

          16       from citizenship or domicile.

          17   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.  Do you want to say

          18       a little more about balancing conflicting rights?

          19       Because this clearly is an area of difficulty I think

          20       for a lot of --

          21   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I think that in the case of the Ladele

          22       there was clearly a need to balance the rights of gay

          23       members of the community with the rights of registrar

          24       who had religious scruple to the registering of them.

          25       I think the Society of Friends, we would welcome
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           1       everyone on a basis of equality and simply that the

           2       friends would have a very positive attitude towards gay

           3       members, but I recognise that in fact, from a brief time

           4       when I was seconded to the transition Commission to

           5       advise on religion and belief, the kind of these crucial

           6       areas where those rights do conflict, and the need to

           7       have adequate clarity and guidance in being able to

           8       address them, I think maybe there's a subsidiary point

           9       there which isn't strictly about the conflict of rights,

          10       but the importance of delineating the boundaries of

          11       those rights as in well ... for instance, in relation to

          12       the general occupational requirement.

          13   PROFESSOR KLUG:  It's very interesting you say that

          14       Mr Bartlet because I suppose the question for us would

          15       be, do you find -- think the human rights framework is

          16       useful and indeed adequate -- I am going to ask

          17       everybody -- for addressing these tensions and

          18       conflicts?  Or do you find that it doesn't get you very

          19       far?

          20   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I think so far, the judgments have been

          21       encouraging.  I wonder sometimes whether the right to

          22       individual liberty of conscience as a limb of the

          23       European Convention of Human Rights Article 9, whether

          24       that doesn't need to be given the same strength of

          25       protection that the right to religion and belief is, in
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           1       some ways I think that's a very attractive way of

           2       recognising where both religion and belief come

           3       together, and whether you're coming from a religious

           4       background or not, I think we would all share a sense

           5       that the right of  individual conscience is one that

           6       should be strongly protected.

           7   PROFESSOR KLUG:  It's very interesting again because as you

           8       may have heard me fumbling in my bag, and that was to

           9       get out my bible -- the little European Convention of

          10       Human Rights and to remind myself precisely of the

          11       wording of Article 9 because I was going to ask you all,

          12       if, you know, it is expressed in slightly different

          13       terms, and the ones you've just made, then the

          14       anti-discrimination legislation, and whether you do or

          15       do not think it is a useful framework for addressing

          16       some of these issues you raise because of particularly,

          17       Miss Stinson and Dr Behan, perhaps you were more

          18       phrasing the issues as potential abuses of rights, but

          19       I wondered whether you thought that actually what is

          20       being faced a lot of the time is a very difficult and

          21       complex web of different people's rights and whether or

          22       not, if you think the human rights framework potentially

          23       is a way of working through that.

          24   DR ANNA BEHAN:  I must say I find the human rights framework

          25       not immediately the most helpful.  I think that it's

                                            13

           1       a nexus of legislation that is the was protection.

           2       Obviously when you talk about somebody, you are dealing

           3       with legislation, it has its roots in human rights and

           4       human rights principles so I'm not taking out entirely

           5       but if I'm thinking of members who come to us with

           6       specific employment issues, the most specific guidance

           7       we can give to help them will be based on either UK law

           8       or UK law that's transposed a directive such as the

           9       Framework Directive.  And I do find that's the best way

          10       to vindicate rights in the short-term.  I would hope

          11       human rights would become part of the larger picture but

          12       I have to say at the moment I do find the way that human

          13       rights is approached seems, it seems to be different

          14       as to opposed to whether the right claim is on behalf of

          15       the religious or non-religious.  I've given the example

          16       that the rights of non-religious young be to excuse

          17       themselves from collective worship did not seem to be to

          18       be entirely dealt with on a human rights basis but we

          19       have other examples whether religious people have

          20       claimed a right to things like Chaplaincy in the NHS, or

          21       education, and I do not challenge that there are rights

          22       that should be protected there, but the assumption that

          23       they must be enabled, and the enabling in both of those

          24       cases must involve funding.  And I don't hear that sort

          25       of argument coming back to us when we are seeking rights
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           1       for the non-religious.

           2   PROFESSOR KLUG:  I understand that point but can I just

           3       slightly tease out what you just said because I just

           4       want to understand what you just said, I understood you

           5       to be saying that when claimants come to you, when

           6       people with difficulties come to you, you find the

           7       anti-discrimination legislation, it is the legislation

           8       I'm assuming you're referring to is it?

           9   DR ANNA BEHAN:  Assuming the -- (over speaking)

          10   PROFESSOR KLUG:  But are you also saying they don't

          11       radically address the issues?

          12   DR ANNA BEHAN:  I do say that because we have a long history

          13       of objecting to the exemptions and exceptions in that

          14       legislation.  But the best chance that they will have is

          15       by the proper application of those laws.

          16   PROFESSOR KLUG:  So you think it's the interpretation --

          17   DR ANNA BEHAN:  No I think laws are [over speaking] I didn't

          18       think that they adequately transpose the directive, for

          19       a start.  And even where there's a margin of

          20       interpretation, we would campaign for it to have been

          21       wider, and more inclusive.  The NSS would seek to extend

          22       the principle of equal treatment as widely as possible,

          23       and --

          24   PROFESSOR KLUG:  What I'm trying to get at is do you just

          25       think that the non-religious are being unfairly treated
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           1       by the law and they ought to be treated more fairly or

           2       do you think there's a balance of rights here which

           3       could benefit from a more thoroughly human rights

           4       approach, because I'm hearing you say the client

           5       legislation from your personal point of view, from your

           6       organisation's point of view, is not adequate to find

           7       protection to the people who come to you, so I'm trying

           8       to work out do you think there just needs to be more

           9       rights for the non-religious or do you think you need to

          10       apply a balancing framework more effectively as you

          11       might find in human rights or what do you say?

          12   DR ANNA BEHAN:  I think it'll ultimately come down to a

          13       balancing, act.  I mean some of these issues are

          14       conflicts of rights which we might, you know, campaign

          15       on one side, whether it could the if a process had been

          16       adequately followed, it could accept a result regardless

          17       of the outcome, but --

          18   PROF FRANCESA KLUG:  Yes my colleague has help me frame my

          19       point better than I did, which is that obviously

          20       a tribunal decision, when, you know, according to the

          21       law of our land now should be framed in term of the

          22       Human Rights Act regardless of the law in question,

          23       including if it's private law.  So for example, when

          24       deciding in the uni case, the gay youth worker, you'll

          25       be aware of that case.
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           1   DR ANNA BEHAN:  Yes.

           2   PROFESSOR KLUG:  The tribunal had to interpret that in the

           3       light of the Human Rights Act, although of course as

           4       I remember, the tribunal found fault with some of the

           5       procedures that were used but didn't in the end find for

           6       the youth worker in this case, is that right?

           7   NEW SPEAKER:  Yes, they found in favour of the applicant.

           8       They did ...

           9   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Oh my apologies, totally wrong.

          10       [OVERSPEAKING] better than I thought, then.  So yes,

          11       well that's kind of gets us back to where we were, which

          12       is you were saying that you don't think the human rights

          13       approach is necessarily what you would find most helpful

          14       but you're saying that the current legislations are not

          15       adequate and my question to you is: what are you asking

          16       for?  Are you asking for a different law or a different

          17       law that applied the current law that will apply the

          18       human rights approach which takes into account that

          19       there is a balance of rights here?

          20   DR ANNA BEHAN:  I think I'm probably asking for both, if

          21       I can.  I do think we want changes in the current law,

          22       some of the worst discrimination that our members face

          23       is very often the legal discrimination not the illegal

          24       discrimination and I think that's a very hard thing when

          25       you just have to say to parents who do not want their
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           1       children to be educated in a religious school that

           2       that's tough, or to workers who want -- or to a teacher

           3       who wants to teach maths and the only school around is

           4       a church school and they can't get in because they have

           5       the wrong lifestyle or beliefs or whatever, when these

           6       things are legal, that's the hardest thing.  So I would

           7       wish to change the laws, but the change would be within

           8       human rights terms involving resolution of conflict of

           9       rights.

          10   PROFESSOR KLUG:  We will hear evidence from people who will

          11       take the opposite view to that, and that's why I ask the

          12       question, because although I appreciate that's entirely

          13       where you're coming from, but we also have people from

          14       religious communities who will feel the opposite so it's

          15       whether one changes the law in one direction or one uses

          16       the framework to try to address the sentiment.  Could

          17       I ask Hanne the same question?

          18   MS HANNE STINSON:  I think the Human Rights Act and the

          19       whole of the human rights principles do provide a very

          20       useful framework, in a sense they provide the only

          21       framework because I do not quite see how else you would

          22       get that balancing and there is obviously a need to

          23       balance.

          24           That balance within the human rights and human

          25       rights principles should then be translated into the
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           1       quality legislation and I go along with a lot of what

           2       Anna just said but I do not think they are necessarily

           3       and I would agree there are major issues with the

           4       exemptions which is not to say that there shouldn't be

           5       some exemptions but I think the balance is in the wrong

           6       place.  I think there's a general principle there

           7       because the right to manifest your belief which as we

           8       know isn't an absolute right, is taken far more

           9       seriously when it's on the basis of religious belief

          10       than it is if it's on the basis of a non-religious

          11       belief and I do not think there's any acceptance, in

          12  people’s perceptions if you like, that the non-religious also

          13       have the right to manifest their beliefs.  If there was

          14       that exemption acceptance, and actually that was an 
                    equal right then

          15       I think the balance would be addressed differently for
          16       example, the rights of the non-religious parents or the

          17       non-religious pupils in schools, isisare, if you like,

          18       a right to manifest their belief and as I say its not

          19       given the same weight.

          20        That actually goes too for broader issues of conscience

          21       as well, because if somebody is arguing an issue of

          22       conscience on the basis of religion, for example, if you

          23      make a conscientious objection to war, they will be taken

          24       much more seriously if it's on religious grounds then if

          25    it is just on ethical grounds, and if those ethical grounds
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           1       are also based on non-religious beliefs.

           2           I would very much agree that we need to use the

           3       Human Rights Act for that balance, and I do think we

           4       need to revisit some of the equality law and I hope that

           5       the Equality Bill will do that because some of those

           6       exemptions do go too far.

           7           I think also that the one thing I will emphasise and
           8   again it's about perceptions, is that one hears increasingly 

           9   and alarmingly about the rights of communities rather than

          10       individuals, which I think is very, very dangerous.  And
          11       also, some people also try to apply human rights to

          12       beliefs themselves, rather than to people who have the

          13       beliefs, and there's a very dangerous argument there and

          14       it's becoming increasingly used. To claim that you can't

          15       challenge beliefs.

          16   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I do think it's significant that the human

          17       rights framework is embodied in its most ample form in

          18       both discrimination legislation and anti-discrimination

          19       legislation and indeed in the work of the Equality and

          20       Human Rights Commission.  I think it's particularly

          21       significant that the right to individual conscience is

          22       given full regard in that context, and I'm not sure that

          23       the Strasbourg jurisprudence has given full regard to

          24       the significance to the right of individual conscience,

          25       in the European Convention on human rights.  I would
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           1       prefer the dissenting judgment in the Arrowsmith case,

           2       than the majority judgment.  But it's interesting to

           3       just look at the wording if we may for a moment.  It is

           4       Article 9, freedom of thought, conscience and religious:

           5           "everyone has the right to freedom of thought,

           6       conscience and religion.  This right includes freedom to

           7       change his religion or belief, and freedom, either alone

           8       or in community with others, and in public or private,

           9       to manifest his religion or belief in worship, teaching,

          10       practice and observance."

          11           The interesting thing is that while the right to

          12       thought, conscience and religion is absolute, the right

          13       to manifest it, which may be limited (Referred to in 
                  Article 9.2) refers only to religion and belief, but

          14       not to conscience.  I mean I know that's been

          15       a contested area, but it does come back to that vital

          16       importance of  recognising 

          17       (whether you see it as someone's humanity or divinity),
          18       both the right of human conscience and the right to 

          19       manifest that conscience.

          20   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Another question I suspect which is of

          21       particular interest to you is whether we've discussed

          22       the human rights framework and the law and balancing

          23       potentially between groups through the law, do you think

          24       the human rights framework has any role to play in your

          25       experience, has it, in bringing communities together or
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           1       indeed individuals together, who have different beliefs,

           2       particularly where there is some tension between --

           3   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I've certainly found the friendships and

           4       associations I've had within the religion and belief

           5       consultative group interesting but I can't really say 
           6       Its  beyond my competence to say the impact it's had on

           7       the communities.

           8   MS HANNE STINSON:  Can I just come back to the matter of

           9       conscience, because based on religious conscience if you

          10       see what I mean, because you get various demands or

          11       requests from religious people in relation to, for 

          12      example, part of their job they cannot do, a certain 

          13      thing, because it doesn't accord with their beliefs, and      

                   I don't have

          14       any problem with those rights being accommodated when it

          15       is reasonable to do so, and when the employer for

          16       example can deal with that adequately.  I don't have any

          17    problem with it unless it impacts on other people's rights.

          18       So again, I think that balance between that right of

          19       conscience and the rights of people who are affected by

          20       it, again requires very careful interpretation, and

          21       I think there are a number of situations, for example,

          22       I would be very -- I am very concerned about pharmacists

          23       who won't prescribe the morning after pill ... because

          24       I think as a pharmacist they should be meeting needs of

          25       the patient who requires the morning after pill.
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           1       Similarly, if it's the pill anyway, even if it's not the

           2       morning after pill although it's not quite as urgent,,.

           3 it obviously has more drastic and immediate effects as if it’s               
           4   the morning after pill, particularly for example if you take

           5    a young girl who has spent an hour summoning up the guts to

           6       go into the chemist and ask for it and then get told

           7       by the chemist no.  It has a very profound impact.

           8           I think there are a number of professions where it's

           9       not that people should be forced to do something against

          10  their conscience, but that there are situations when perhaps

          11       somebody needs to actually accept that with that

          12       particular belief, that conscience, they need to do

          13       a different job.

          14   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Of course this is precisely the real life

          15       situation of human rights framework and indeed law has

          16       addressed itself to, and we shall discuss this with

          17       great interest for a long time because I have my own

          18       views on that but just to say it isn't always religious

          19       conscience that it comes into play in these situations

          20       when you're talking about dissecting animals or

          21       abortion, there is a wider conscience issue and very

          22       often the kind of judgments are based on whether the

          23       service will be available if certain individuals are

          24       knocked out.  Which I agree, it becomes complicated with

          25       the chemist which is off the street and can't be
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           1       organised in the same way.

           2           Can I move on to ask you, given that you all seem to

           3       think that human rights framework and Human Rights Act

           4       has some value, to say what do you think the biggest

           5       barriers are to achieving its full potential to the way

           6       the authorities have fulfilled their functions?

           7   MS HANNE STINSON:  Is this on religion and belief

           8       specifically?

           9   PROFESSOR KLUG:  We are interested in your areas of

          10       expertise and experience rather than more generally but

          11       insofar as the two overlap you're free to bring them in.

          12  MS HANNE STINSON:  I think on religion and belief issues, the

          13      greatest barrier is that there is a lack of understanding 

          14   and awareness and knowledge, and something that I think goes

          15       further than that, because I think there is a bias in

          16       the way that it is seen in Government circles and

          17     elsewhere, and a tendency to put, from my perspective, too

          18       much weight on the requests and demands of the

          19       religious, and I think we -- this sort is difficult to

          20  put in into words, I think what we have in our society still,

          21       and I think it's changing but it hasn't changed as much

          22       as I would like it to, is a perception that religion is

          23       a social good, and certainly the ministers and so on are

          24       talking that way.  I am not saying it can't be a social

          25       good, it can, but the perception that religion is a good
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           1       thing, that it's what motivates people to do charitable

           2       and voluntary work, that it's -- and that that

           3       motivation is somehow different in relation to the

           4       motivation of somebody who isn't religious.  It's

           5       different but it isn’t more powerful, is perhaps the

           6       way I should put it.  I think that whole perception that

           7       we are still a Christian society, although we recognise

           8       that there we are now much more diverse, but religion as

           9       a whole and Christianity still has that status within

          10       society as being seen that is something that is

          11       positively good and worthy and I think that distorts the

          12       way people actually use the Human Rights Act.  I think

          13       it's part of the reason also for the exclusion of the

          14       non-religious from all sorts of forums.  I think that's

          15       the main point.

          16   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Please feel free to bring in other

          17       extraneous issues you feel may be impacting on the way

          18       the Human Rights Act is working.  That don't stem purely

          19       from religion and belief.

          20   DR ANNA BEHAN:  I'd certainly support what Hanne said there.

          21       I do think that perhaps the biggest barrier is this

          22       assumption it's not really religion and belief, it's

          23       religion but that is justified because religion has some

          24       value.  I mean I gave some examples earlier of that, so

          25       I won't go into that again.  I mean I suppose the other

                                            25

           1       idea that comes up is a barrier is a more general

           2       perception of someone making -- that claims with the

           3       human rights aspect to them are -- they have a negative

           4       associations that these are cases where people are

           5       chancing things, pushing the there's no merit.  That is

           6       a broad issue, that affects everyone to do with human

           7       rights, and I don't have immediate solution to it.

           8       Except by, I suppose, improving human rights so that it

           9       is generally perceived.  I think from my perspective,

          10       that perception would be easier to dispel if the first

          11       problem that Hanne mentioned and I endorsed was not part

          12       of the background as well.  And you could say well no

          13       it's not just people bringing curious claims -- I'm

          14       sorry, I am not characterising the person who is curious

          15       --

          16   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Of course we're all completely aware of the

          17       way you're inferring to.

          18   DR ANNA BEHAN:  [OVERSPEAKING].  I was just explaining that

          19       wasn't a personal characterisation of any claim

          20       particular claim or general claim, but that it was a

          21       perception that has generated widely in the public and

          22       the press.

          23   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Do you have anything to add to that

          24       Mr Bartlet?

          25   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I don't think I have any competence to
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           1       address that question, but I could give you a clear

           2       illustration of where I feel that human rights aren't

           3       being adequately safeguarded at the moment if that would

           4       be helpful.  And the current situation of under 18s in

           5       the armed forces, those recruited at the age of 16 are

           6       currently required to remain in the army for 4 years

           7       from their 18th birthday, and after their few months in

           8       training, they have no provisions for discharge as of

           9      right, although they may be released as “unhappy minors”.
          10           The military standards of justice to which they're

          11       subject also lack the nuance of courts for young people

          12       and the civilian courts and I think the Deepcutt inquiry

          13       has highlighted the very real trauma and bullying which

          14       young people are subjected to.  This is an area where

          15       young people's human rights in the broadest sense simply

          16       aren't being safeguarded.

          17   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Please anyone answer but I'll ask you

          18       Mr Bartlet first, does your organisation help people

          19       understand their rights and particularly their rights

          20       under the Human Rights Act?  Do you see that as part of

          21       any way your remit?

          22   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I don't see it as a central part of our

          23       remit but I see a kind of recognition of human rights as

          24       very important aspect of both what I do and what

          25      colleagues do.  So for instance, our QUNO office (Quaker 
United Nations Office) 
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           1        runs summer schools in human rights for

           2       young people, and I've recently worked with colleagues

           3       in the  public affairs group of

           4       Quakers peace and social witness to publish a book, 
                  “Nonsense on Stilts ?         
5       a Quaker view of human rights.”
           6   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Do you have any material about the summer

           7       schools that we could have?

           8   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I will send that to you.

           9   PROFESSOR KLUG:  That will be very useful.  You earlier

          10       I think referred to giving advice to members in relation

          11       to tribunals?

          12   MICHAEL BARTLET:  No we're not really analogous to a CAB

          13       or --

          14   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Sorry.  I do apologise.

          15   DR ANNA BEHAN:  I meant informal advice, we'd refer to

          16       people to the --

          17   PROFESSOR KLUG:  I think my colleague is keen to ask to get

          18       me to follow up on that, to ask you whether there was --

          19       do you have any knowledge that you could pass on to us,

          20       it doesn't have to be now, of in the course of that

          21       advice, the genuine occupational requirement, the issue

          22       of a tribunal taking into account Human Rights Act

          23       considerations have you come across that, either of

          24       view?  If you have got that information it would be very

          25       useful to have it.
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           1   DR ANNA BEHAN:  I'd need to research that but we may be able

           2       to.

           3   MS HANNE STINSON:  I'm not sure we have that but we

           4       certainly give lots of informal advice particularly in

           5       relation to schools, when we get asked about this.  We

           6       have produced guidance for local authorities which is

           7       actually more on equalities than human rights but

           8       obviously founded in that as part of local development

           9       project that we ran for a year funded by the CLG, the

          10       only grant we've ever got from Government.  To do with

          11       the local development project, what was apparent was

          12  the lack of awareness of human rights and individual equality 
          13      at a human level so we've produced guidance on that and

          14       we're currently running a project funded by the EHRC to

          15       raise awareness on human rights and equality issues.

          16   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Is that a promotional project rather than

          17       an individual one?

          18   MS HANNE STINSON:  It's promotional yes.  We have also 

          19    funded  a tribunal case on equality which was a case of

          20       a religious organisation attracted  to provide a public

          21       service which was discriminating across the board,

          22       applying a GOR to every post --

          23   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Did the Human Rights Act come into play in

          24       that case?

          25   MS HANNE STINSON:  I know it was discussed but I don't think

                                            29

           1       it was actually picked up formally within the tribunal.

           2   PROF FRANCESA KLUG:  If it were, we would be very pleased to

           3       hear about it.

           4   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can I just ask you Mr Bartlet the title

           5       of the book you referred to?  Is it called Quaker view

           6       of human rights?

           7   MICHAEL BARTLET:  It's called “Nonsense on Stilts ?,A Quaker 
           8   view of human rights” and I'd be

           9       delighted to send you a copy if you'd be interested.

          10   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.  Right.  I want to

          11       move on to more general issues perhaps because we have

          12       heard a lot of evidence from witnesses about the

          13       negative portrayal of human rights in some sectors of

          14       the media, and that that is one of the barriers, if you

          15       like, to the growth of a proper culture of human rights

          16       in England and Wales, and I suppose the first instance

          17       is do you agree with witnesses that the way in which

          18       human rights are portrayed in the media has actually

          19       been counter-productive for developing human rights

          20       culture, and why do you think this has happened?  Dr

          21       Behan?

          22   DR ANNA BEHAN:  No, I think human rights cases are going to

          23       involve unsympathetic people.  I think it's difficult

          24       cases where we need human rights so I think to some

          25       extent we must expect people interested in promoting
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           1       human rights must expect that they -- that cases will be

           2       characterised as promoting the rights of people of whom

           3       the public disprove and I think perhaps there should be

           4       some, you know, take this head on, and be happy with it,

           5       happy with that perception because that's the essence of

           6       human rights, and it's not judging people on external,

           7       on popularity issues or external features, it's checking

           8       whether rights have been infringed and I think it should

           9       be a neutral process.  Was that the first part of the

          10       question?

          11   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I was asking you why you thought that

          12       there was this negative portrayal, that human rights

          13       effectively we've seen in the media are for terrorists

          14       and criminals and illegal asylum seekers and that sort

          15       of thing.

          16   DR ANNA BEHAN:  Yes I think the nature of it, but I think

          17       that's an essential part of the vindication of human

          18       rights.  So I think so.

          19   MS HANNE STINSON:  I think there are sections of the media

          20      that take great delight in before portraying that side of

          21       human rights, and they do it to latch on to certain

          22       perceptions within society and hence to increase their

          23       sales, basically.  I think it's very cynical.  And

          24       I think it's also very damaging.  And I think what is

          25       needed to react to that is a combination of the sort of
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           1       thing that Anna was just saying that actually you do

           2       have to protect the human rights of people even if they

           3       are unpopular and so on, but I think also the other side

           4       of it has to be promotion of the other aspect of human

           5       rights for example, the human rights of people in a care

           6       home and all the sorts of things that people would
           7      approve of automatically if they realised that those were

           8       human rights issues.  So I think it's a combination of

           9       the two.  A very strong need for a powerful case to be

          10       made for human rights particularly of course when you

          11       have one political party that is still talking about

          12       getting rid of it.  Though they seem a bit undecided.

          13   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  It's very clear I think.  Mr Bartlet?

          14   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I'm not sure it's just the media that's

          15       fallen short here, I think that both the remarks and

          16       actions of many with political responsibility in all

          17       three major political parties, especially in relation to

          18       asylum, have done nothing to dispel a negative portrayal

          19       in the media.  I think it's a very complex issue.

          20       There's often a feeling, even sadly among some of our

          21       judiciary, that all things European are bad, and that

          22     English law, no one seems to mention Scots law, is somehow
          23       t superior to “that filthy foreign rubbish” of

          24       continental systems.  I think it's often forgotten that

          25       the UK had a significant role in drafting the European
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           1       Convention of Human Rights and the European Court of

           2       Human Rights is often portrayed as being interfering

           3       busybodies, and if you want to see where this can lead,

           4       I'd suggest looking at the case of Hoekstra and others

           5       and HM advocate.,  In this case Hoekstra and

           6       his co-accused had appealed against conviction to the

           7       Court of Criminal Appeal on various grounds including

           8       convention rights, and after the hearing, one of the

           9       judges lord McCluskey, published a newspaper article in

          10       Scotland on Sunday, in which he described the European

          11       Convention of human rights as "a field day for

          12       crackpots, a pain in the neck for judges and legislators

          13       and a goldmine for lawyers."  They appealed again

          14       claiming the court had not been fair and impartial, and

          15       the subsequent hearing by a differently constituted

          16       court concluded that Lord McCluskey's remarks might have

          17       given rise to suspicions that he was biased against the

          18       claims based on human rights.

          19   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  We've actually put those words to

          20       witnesses in the past to see what response we get.

          21       Thank you very much.

          22           Just one very brief final question, and Francesca

          23       I think has to some degree addressed what your

          24       organisations might do to promote human rights, but

          25       I would ask you, is there anything specific that you
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           1       think governments should be doing or that this

           2       Commission should be doing?

           3   MS HANNE STINSON:  I would say yes.  I think governments

           4   should be much more forceful.  I mean even if they do, every

           5       now and again, try to tackle the perception of human

           6       rights, IIas for example the report that came out from 
                   the ministry of justice,

           7       it wasn't very widely circulated, I don't know anyone

           8       outside the human rights area who looked at it.  It

           9       should be a really concerted education and public

          10 awareness raising activity.  I think the EHRC should see it as

          11       a very, very important part of their role, and it

          12       obviously has to be linked with any work they do on

          13       challenging the Government on human rights issues which

          14       is obviously going to put the EHRC in a difficult 

          15    position sometimes if at the same time you're doing work on

          16       education and promotion, but I would really see it as

          17       a very, very important task.  I'd add to that, and I've

          18       suggested this to Trevor who wasn't very happy about it,

          19   that the EHRC should be leading the debate on the balance of

          20       human rights on issues of Article 9, and that it should

          21       be doing that both internally, in order to establish its

          22       own understanding of what that balance is, so that when

          23       these issues come up, as they inevitably do, that the

          24       Commission actually has a broad position which it can

          25       then use to develop its position on the actual situation
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           1       that's arisen.  Because I think there's a huge danger in

           2       the sort of ad hoc pronouncement that it's very easy to

           3       make on a situation, and in the same way the Government

           4       does and the media does but the EHRC can find itself

           5       doing that same thing if it hasn't had that firm and

           6       strong debate.  It should also lead the public debate

           7       because it's very important in relation to awareness as

           8       well and an awful lot of people use this issue about my

           9     rights, my right to manifest my belief. It comes up every

          10       Christmas as part of this thing claim that people who 
are trying to prevent Christians from celebrating
          11       Christmas.

          12       I have never yet found anyone who makes says that but

          13       certain evangelical Christians seem to come out with 
                   these stories every

          14       year.  And I think that arguments about conflicting 
                  rights providing  

          15       opportunities, that if the religious claim that it

          16       is their religious right to do certain things, and other

          17       people are claiming a counter right, if you like, those

          18       are opportunities for education as well as actually for

          19       trying to resolve that particular issue and I think the

          20       EHRC has a very important role there.

          21   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.

          22   DR ANNA BEHAN:  I think I'd add to that since I place an

          23       importance on legislation in vindicating rights, that

          24       I'd like to see the Commission actively involved in

          25       monitoring legislation and my avenues may be limited
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           1       here but I think more oversight on some of the

           2       legislation if that were possible would be useful, and

           3       I think that for instance the certificates of

           4       compatibility issues under section 19, don't seem

           5       entirely satisfactory method of ensuring the

           6       compatibility, not only do they come quite early before

           7       second reading, so it doesn't cover amendments but it

           8       also seemed not to encompass the debate or explain or to

           9       rationalise or justify, in the terms on which I would

          10       wish to see them, I'm not suggesting -- there may be

          11       some justification but sometimes they seem to be fairly

          12       bold statements of a side being taken and I just feel

          13       that that's an opportunity that's lost, to ensure

          14       conformity with human rights, and that's just one small

          15       concrete thing.

          16           Generally, I think that the Commission should

          17       challenge Government assumptions that certainly we

          18       perceive and that the non-religious just don't count
          19        -- When human rights are mentioned.

          20   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Mr Bartlet?

          21   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I'm reluctant to say too much regarding

          22       what the equality and human rights Commission should be

          23       doing.

          24   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Please don't be reluctant.

          25   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I think it could very helpful learn from
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           1       other common law jurisdictions, New Zealand, Australia,

           2       and Canada, where the charter of rights and freedoms has

           3       produced some very interesting results.  I think I share

           4       some of Hanne's thinking about the significance of that

           5       balance, and I think the -- in trying to encourage human

           6       rights always being seen in context is really 

           7       vital.  So for instance, if you're concerned with

           8       a young person joining the army, they need to be aware

           9       of their legal commitments they're entering into, but

          10       they need to have them explained to them in context.

          11       The operation of the Human Rights Act is extremely

          12       complicated and that's why the House of Lords can

          13       reverse the Court of Appeal.  So when people involve

          14       themselves in something like joining the army, they

          15       should  have very clearly explained to

          16       them exactly the nature of their commitment they're

          17       entering into by the public authority and I think this

          18       is a contentious area w but it's actually where the 
          19      Equality and Human Rights Commission  could make

          20       a real difference to the lives of young and vulnerable

          21       people.

          22           As regards the role of the Government, better

          23       education would help, as would a more positive attitude

          24       shown by some ministers.  To end on a positive note, one

          25       of the ways where the Human Rights Act has made a really
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           1       significant difference I think is in the requirement

           2       under section 19, to make ministerial segments of

           3       compatibility, and this has required a legislative

           4       scrutiny that has actually improved the quality of our

           5       legislations since the passing of the Act and I think

           6       also in terms of setting up of the joint committee on

           7       human rights to provide a system of parliamentary

           8       scrutiny.  These are really positive actions the

           9       Government has undertaken.

          10   MS HANNE STINSON:  I have one other point. Another issue 
          11    that is very important is the issue about interpreting the

          12       existing legislation in the light of the Human Rights

          13       Act, and I think that's something the Government has

          14       a tendency to ignore

          15       , and I think it's not

          16      necessarily done in the courts either,,. I'm thinking for

          17       example of one of our campaigns, which is on marriage

          18    law, where we have asked for in many ways for years for the
          19       Government to actually permit, in England and Wales as

          20       now in Scotland, us to do perform legal humanist

          21       marriages, and we have suggested to them that it should

          22       be possible to read the law so that it does, which is

          23       exactly what happened in Scotland.  Now obviously in

          24       England and Wales marriage law is different

          25       and extremely complex, but if they wished to do it, they
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           1       could, and they don't.  I think this applies in a number

           2       of areas where you could actually resolve an awful lot

           3       of issues that way if the Government picked up on

           4       those sorts of issues.

           5   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you all very much for coming.  We

           6       really appreciate the evidence you've given to us.

           7       There are a couple of things which you have offered to

           8       us to clarify for us, and we're very grateful for that.

           9   MICHAEL BARTLET:  I also realise I may have made a legal

          10       mistake in one of the things I was saying about

          11       Article 9, is it possible to correct that? 
          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Just say whatever you want it to be.

          13    (2.07 pm)

          14              (End of first section of the inquiry)

          15    (2.19 pm)
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15    (2.19 pm)

          16   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can I first of all thank you all very

          17       much for coming and thank you for giving us your time,

          18       the purpose of today's hearing of this inquiry into the

          19       state of human rights in the England Wales, is to

          20       explore the impact of the Human Rights Act on religion

          21       and belief and religious and belief communities and an

          22       particular to understand the potential of the Act to

          23       provide a framework for resolving disputes and also for

          24       promoting community cohesion.

          25           On a wider front we're looking at, is there
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           1       a culture of human rights, if there isn't, what have

           2       been the barriers to the development to such a culture

           3       and what needs to be done by all the relevant agencies

           4       to achieve what might be achieved.  Louise is our

           5       Palantypist and she will record every word you say.  Can

           6       I ask you to speak, if you can, slowly, and clearly.

           7       You have the right to privacy but you have all indicated

           8       you're happy to give your evidence in public.  If at any

           9       stage you want to move into private session, if you

          10       indicate that to me, we can talk about it.

          11           If I ask you any questions, which are not clear,

          12       please do not hesitate to ask for clarification, and

          13       I ask always ask my witnesses if they'd like to make

          14       a statement of a maximum of two minutes about the

          15       organisation which they represent.  So some do, some

          16       don't.  So gentlemen, if you'd like to make such

          17       a statement, please indicate.

          18           Yes, Mr Zipfel

          19   RICHARD ZIPFEL:  I represent the Catholic Bishops 
Conference,

          20       I should say at the beginning that I'm a little lower on

          21       the totem pole than we might have wished if we were

          22       going to make the maximum of this opportunity to have

          23       a dialogue with you, but it's the Bishops Conference is

      24    meeting this week and so they're sending a kind of a dogs body.  
          25   My background is 25 years working for them in the community
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           1 race relations field but I'm not a lawyer or a theologian.                  
           2       The background I wanted to point to is that Catholic

           3       tradition over perhaps a thousand years has had a belief

           4       in natural law, a kind of universal law written on the

           5       minds and hearts of all of humanity, it's not just for

           6       Catholics or Christians or anything else it's thought to

           7       be a universal moral law, that is can be known by

           8       everyone, and it links us.

           9           I think Catholics broadly see the human rights

          10       codification as consistent with that natural law, though

          11       not identical to it in any way.

          12           It's perhaps an indication of the Catholic

          13       acceptance of human rights that a number of Papal 
                   Encyclical
          14       have included it over the last 30 years or so

          15       the most fully inclusive of it was an encyclical Pacem

          16       in Terris by Pope John XXIII and there is a kind of

          17       anecdote to support this.  Jacques Maritain was a member 
                   of the Commission

          18       that drew up the universal declaration of human rights

          19       and he is perhaps one of the best known and the most

          20       highly respected Catholic philosophers and a close

          21       friend of Pope Paul VI.  So that's the kind of

          22  background that suggests that our tradition accepts the human

          23       rights language and intent and codification but not

          24       without some element of criticism within the community

          25       and that would come from diverse points of view.
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           1   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much indeed.

           2   DR MALCOLM BROWN:  Thank you, could I follow.  I'm the

           3       Director of the Mission and Public Affairs Division

           4   for the Archbishops’ Council of the Church of England which

           5  by the length of the title suggests to you, I'm sure, that we

           6       are a complex organisation.  And if you ask what is the

           7       view of the Church of England on most issues, one would

8       have to qualify that by pointing out that we are a very disparate institution. So I'm here

           9       representing my Division.  I can't for instance speak

          10       for the Archbishop of Canterbury or York.

          11       I think we would echo much of what Richard said from the

          12       Anglican tradition.  The positions of our members would

          13       vary from very strong commitment to the human

          14       rights agenda, through to a position that starts from

          15       a different place, but then shares a great deal of the

          16       ground. The Archbishop of Canterbury gave

          17       a lecture at the London School of Economics in May this

          18       year where he developed a quite complex, but as you'd

          19       expect, a nuanced account of human rights from the point

          20       of view of Christian theology, so we may be starting

          21       in a different place in some respects, but there would

          22       be a tremendous amount of support and overlap for the

          23       principles of human rights.  It's at the edges where

          24       you'll find the areas of difference.

          25   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can I just ask you then, again, the
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           1       Archbishop's lecture, just tell me when that was?

           2   DR MALCOLM BROWN:  I'm sure it was May but I can send

           3       you the link to it.  Maybe if someone would give me an

           4       address at some point.

           5   DR DON HORROCKS:  I'm just saying that I am head of the

           6       public affairs at the Evangelical Alliance.  The

           7       Evangelical Alliance is an umbrella body comprised of

           8       individuals and organisations and the churches and

           9       probably represents the vast majority of Britain's 2.5

          10       to 3 million evangelicals.  In terms of attitude to

          11       human rights, I think we would have a large degree of

          12       sympathy with Malcolm, and Richard's expressions of view

          13       there.  In other words there's a theological angle to

          14       human rights which informs quite a lot of the thinking.

          15   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.  Mr Aziz?

          16   MOHAMMED AZIZ:  I represented various Muslim organisations

          17       in the past but I really am a private citizen, speaking

          18       from my own capacity.  My position here is that I feel

          19       that human rights is a theology in itself, a code of

          20       ethics which we need for a pluralist society and it may

          21       have overlaps with other religions, philosophies but

          22       it's what we need, sub-standing itself, and if we are
          23       to have a pluralist society if it doesn't exist then

          24       then we -- (over speaking).

          25   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much that's very helpful

                                            43

           1       indeed.  Can I ask each of you to tell me briefly as you

           2       can because we want to develop the argument what you

           3       think the three key human rights issues which affect

           4       your community today?  And perhaps also, what have been

           5       the most significant impacts of the Act on your work?

           6   DR DON HORROCKS:  Without going into a lot of detail, it's

           7       very difficult to prioritise, but there's a lot I've

           8       jotted down: probably freedom of speech, freedom of

           9       conscience, particularly in the workplace and the whole

          10       question of religious literacy in the public square, in

          11       terms of significant impacts on human rights.  In my

          12       area of work, I suppose really it's defending religious

          13       freedoms against intolerance and persecution would be

          14       high on the list.

          15   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.

          16   DR MALCOLM BROWN:  I think there's always going to be

          17    overlap between us and I'm sure I'll endorse what was just
          18       said, but we're particularly interested in education.  A

          19   lot of emphasis in human rights is about allowing people to 

          20    bring up children and have them educated according to an 
ethos which parents have chosen
          21      .  But there's another side to that which is that
          22        the impact, of the human rights culture for members of

          24       the Church of England has sometimes been to help them to

          25       understand that being a member of the Church of England 
                   is not just the default position of
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           1   everybody in the nation, and it has sometimes, I think, been 

           2   a very  healthy challenge to our assumption of being

           3       the “normative Brits”, if I can put it like that.

           4       It's made us more aware of our responsibilities to

           5       safeguard the rights of others in the way that we

           6       sometimes take for granted our own rights are defended.

           7           The third point I'd make I think is to do with the

           8       workplace.  That cuts both ways.  It's helped us to

           9       understand just when it's necessary to make Christian

          10       belief, or even Anglican belief, a genuine occupational

          11    requirement, and when that is irrelevant. But it's also the 
          12   case that being able to express religious belief is becoming 

          13    more of an issue for Anglicans as they become more aware of

          14       the secular culture around them. Sometimes the

          15       default positions now are to marginalise religious

          16       expression, and so I think we are in a very interesting

          17       transitional stage.

          18   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Okay very helpful thank you.

          19   RICHARD ZIPFE:  Most of my experience has been in

          20       race relations and actually I don't want to speak

          21       directly of that right now.  However, from the 
                   perspective of

          22       the Catholic community, there would probably be three

          23       areas that would be important, two of them you might

          24       think are kind of beyond further debate, the most

          25       obvious might be the right to life, which we would see
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           1       as extending from the unborn child to elderly people and

           2       various issues about research and so on that have come

           3       up there.  We understand that we're a minority view in

           4       that, but we're interested that the human rights aspect

           5       of that argument be respected because there's a danger

           6       of a pejorative stereotype growing up so that pro-lifers

           7       are not seen as people who have some argument relating

           8       to human rights but are seen as quirky people on the

           9       far right and in fact many of the pro-lifers I work most

          10       closely with have been on the left for 40 years and have

          11       been in jail and so on and so forth.

          12           So that stereotype we think cuts across the respect

          13       that at least even to a majority view on that life

          14       aspect of human rights.

          15           The second one might be the right of parents to

          16       choose the education of their children, and again in the

          17       debates about faith schools, you almost never hear of

          18       the human rights aspect of this talked about.  

         19       People who want faith schools for their children are

          20       often portrayed again with a negative stereotype of

          21       people who are jostling, dishonest, and trying to find

          22       space in better schools at the expense of other

          23       children.

          24           And the thought that some people might actually

          25       believe that as parent they have the right to some
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           1       extent to have influence over the type of religious

           2       education their children receive actually has some

           3       reflection on whether it's the majority view or

           4       a minority view, in human rights as well.  The third one

           5       would be freedom to practice religion, which again, is

           6       seriously under attack at the moment, and there is a

           7       concerted movement seen by a lot of religious people to

           8       push religion in the private sphere, whereas human

           9       rights would be clear that the right to practice

          10       religion in public and in community is a fundamental

          11       one.

          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Would you like to give me an example of

          13       why it is now seriously under attack?
          14   RICHARD ZIPFE:  An example?  Well, I find myself constantly

          15       in dialogue and in respectful dialogue with people who

          16       I perceive after being in the same room with them and

          17       talking with them for a few years, as basically wanting

          18       a world that that's as rid of religion as possible,

          19   whereas at second best it is pushed into the private sphere

          20       and as a third best it's allowed a very narrow

          21       legitimacy as narrow as possible within the public

          22       sphere.  We have media who talk about one right trumping

          23       another, totally ignoring the kind of principle of

          24       proportionality that runs through the whole of the human

          25       rights, and the notion that in certain situations, some
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           1       rights simply never exist because another right should

           2       be preferred.  I mean the Observer Newspaper a few

           3       months ago had an editorial headline saying, "Such and

           4       such right trumps religious rights".  Which to me is

           5       a language which totally promotes confusion and

           6       disrespect for anything that's other than the majority

           7       cultural view at the moment.

           8   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.  Mr Aziz I know you said you

           9       didn't speak for the community but is there anything

          10       you'd like to particularly draw attention to?

          11   MOHAMMED AZIZ:  I think what I have to say overlaps with

          12       some of what has already been said but there may be some

          13       specifics within what I've chosen.  Firstly the right to

          14       religion.  I think this is clearly the case with the

          15       Muslim community that I've done a lot of work with, and

          16       also other minority faith communities in the UK.  That

          17       is in terms of both the right to believe and practice

          18       both as an individual but also as a community, so not

          19       just a belief but also to practice in terms of dress

          20       code or whatever it might be.

          21           But also the right to believe and practice as

          22       a community in terms of faith spaces, mosques,

          23       cemeteries, temples, et cetera.  So the first one is the

          24       right to religion.  The second is freedom of speech.

          25       Both in terms of having access to avenues of freedom of
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           1       speech but also being protected from access to in terms

           2       of incitement to hatred, and how freedom of speech is

           3       practised in a way that it respects the other,

           4       particularly when it talks about the beliefs that stand

           5       at the core of the other.  So both in terms of accessing

           6       but also in terms of the boundaries of freedom of speech

           7       as it might affect the other, particularly the other

           8       coming from minority communities in British society.

           9           The third one is the right to equality and

          10       non-discrimination and also protection from

          11       disadvantage.  And this is particularly in terms of

          12       socioeconomic conditions with regards to minority faith

          13       communities or ethnic communities, treatment by law and

          14       order agencies and civil and political representation.

          15       So those would be my three key areas of human rights

          16       concerns.

          17   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much indeed.  Very

          18       interesting.

          19   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Thank you.  There's an awful lot on all of

          20       you have raised and I'm sure we all wished we had

          21       another 2 hours to explore so we're going to have to

          22       just pick on certain things but you brought up this

          23       thing -- I will address this question first of all to

          24       you but wish to hear from all of you, about the role of

          25       human rights when different rights are in conflict or
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           1       balance with each other, because although there are some

           2       absolutes in human rights and one is actually freedom of

           3       conscience to think what you want in your own head, most

           4       rights as you will know in human rights framework and in

           5       the Human Rights Act are balanced against other rights

           6       and this is particularly complex if you like in your

           7       sphere because, you know, the right to freedom of

           8       conscience and religion even from the European

           9       Convention of Human Rights recognises the rights of the

          10       non-religious, to change your religion, so it's embedded

          11       in the rights itself, as well as that complex right

          12       which is balanced in itself, being balanced against

          13       other considerations like national security and public

          14       health and the rights of others.

          15           So balance in taking on board the needs and rights

          16       of others, is inherent in the right to freedom of

          17       conscience and religion in the European Convention of

          18       Human Rights.

          19           Do you find the Human Rights Act to be a useful

          20       framework and if you can't say for the Human Rights Act

          21       at least the human rights, for balancing right.  I'm

          22       aware there are cases which you may or may not have been

          23       come from your different perspectives as to how they

          24       turned out.  I think the youth worker case, from

          25       a religious point of view, I don't know Mr Aziz how you
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           1       feel about the high school case or the teaching

           2       assistant case but each one of these cases I think you

           3       will all acknowledge addressed a very difficult balance

           4       of rights, concerning genuine occupational requirements

           5       but also concerning a broader sense of how do you

           6       address the rights of different groups to present

           7       themselves with different fundamentals so I'd be very

           8       interested in each of your views on this question.

           9       Start with you Mr Zipfel.

          10   RICHARD ZIPFEl:  Can you just clarify the question?

          11   PROFESSOR KLUG:  How you thought in the Human Rights

          12       framework if you can talk about the Human Rights Act as

          13       a piece of legislation that's even more valuable to us

          14       but as you said you have varying know also of that so if

          15       not the human rights framework, in terms of balance.

          16   RICHARD ZIPFE:  I think the human rights framework at its

          17       best does provide a context in which rights in conflict

          18       can be accommodated with one another.  In fact, I think

          19  at it's best, placed within a wider context, that I might use

          20       the Judaic Christian tradition as offering the two great

          21       commandments: love God and love your neighbour as

          22       a slightly different perspective than defend this

          23       person's rights and defend that person's rights.  It

          24       actually puts on all of us an obligation to community,

          25       and if you want in the context in the contemporary
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           1       context, it puts the defence of human rights in the

           2       wider context of creating good relations, and of

           3       promoting human cohesion.  So within that wider context

           4       of creating community, human rights at its best can

           5       further that whole project.  And at its worst it becomes

           6       a codification of legislation which becomes

           7       a battleground for different perspectives to win and

           8       lose cases, with no one actually ever crossing the

           9       bridge to find community with people in the other

          10       positions, and at its worst, litigation proliferates and

          11       divides us all into different sectors.

          12   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Can you give us any examples of either of

          13       those two in your experience?

          14   RICHARD ZIPFE:  My examples usually come from discussions of

          15       legislation again around tables with Christians, people

          16       of other faiths and people of no belief and I'd say we

          17       constantly are in conversations about how this or that

          18       bit of human rights legislation should be interpreted,

          19       but each coming from the perspective of wanting to

          20       either find more space for ourselves, or the other

          21       trying to push us into that space.  And I think

          22       basically, human rights will only become a positive

          23       possibility that it is if we keep it in prospective of

          24       the obligation to create relations of mutual respect and

          25       the attempt to create cohesive community all of which is
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           1       on the EHRC's agenda.

           2   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Thank you that's helpful.  I'm glad you

           3       responded to the question not just in terms of law but

           4       in terms of potential role, very much of bringing people

           5       together or dividing them depending how you look at it.

           6   DR MALCOLM BROWN:  

           7       I think the difficulty, one difficulty, is that there is

           8       in a sense that human rights legislation is grounded

           9       in a notion of the atomised individual.
          10       Testing out how a balance between rights, and the

          11       codification of one right against another is actually

          12       going to be lived out, is problematic. It's about people

          13       discovering how to get this right  - partly through the 
                    courts, which perhaps

          14       isn't the best way of finding out how you play one right

          15    against another.  For instance in the Hereford youth worker

          16       case, both sides thought they were respecting human 
                  rights – the rights

          17       of the community and the rights of the individual -  and 
                   it had to be settled in the courts .

          20           It isn't easy to rely on the rather cumbersome

          21   legislation of case law to settle issues like that, I think.

          22   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Can I just press you on that.  I mean what

          23       would you, in your mind, refer to if there wasn't

          24       legislation that went into the route of religious bodies

          25       like yours, employment practice of it has to be said,
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           1       a non-religious position within the organisation?

           2       I mean do you feel that human rights shouldn't stretch

           3       into that area at all?

           4   DR MALCOLM BROWN:  I think that's a very difficult question

           5    I don't want to say yes or no in any simple way.  I'm very 
                cognisant of

           6       the value of human rights legislation as a safeguard of

           7       fundamentals.  On the other hand --

           8   PROFESSOR KLUG:  The fact that there is discrimination

           9       [OVERSPEAKING]

          10   DR MALCOLM BROWN:  -- learning how to work within it, and 
                 it’s important to remember that in

          11       faith organizations human rights legislation is a fairly 
                   recent development in our history

          12       of organisations - I'm not sure that the mechanisms that

          13       we've got for learning how to balance rights against

          14       each other are nuanced enough, and there's not yet a 
          15   sufficient body of experience, perhaps.  I must say, I think

          16       that we're not wholly confident that an understanding

          17       of religion from within, as it were, has entered into

          18       this public discourse very well.

          19           Religious belief isn't quite an analogue of some of

          20       the other positions that are defended in human rights

          21       legislation.  This can be rather

          22       like Richard's example.  It comes out in conversation

          23       with people, particularly in Government and so on, that

          24       when religion isn't understood from within, as in fact

          25       is the case with most people in our culture, it is
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           1     treated too much as an analogue of something else, whether 

           2       that's sexuality or ethnicity, but it

           3     doesn't work quite like that.  Religion is to some extent

           4       something that people choose, and to some extent, 

           5       also, it's a complete understanding of life and of

           6       relationships, properly thought through.  It's not just

           7       something that can be treated in isolation.  So I think

           8       the current situation feels a little like birth pains – 
                   of trying to take on

           9       a new mode of thinking into a, frankly, much more 
                   ancient mode

          10       of thinking and they don't quite fit so the way it's

          11       working at the moment is abrasive, to some extent.
          12   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Thank you.

          13   DR DON HORROCKS:  I agree with all that's been said, in that

          14       confrontational approach to human rights I don't think

          15       can ultimately be successful. Whether it’s in the courts 
         16    or in any other connotation. The emphasis of the Commission 
         17  on good relations I think is right providing
          18       it can actually pursue that role in terms of mediation
          19     rather than hastening to the courtroom. This has got to be

          20       the way forward, if the framework is to work, and so

          21    I'm agreeing with that wider context in which human rights

          22       needs to be seen in the area of good relations, and

          23       responsibilities, as well as rights.

          24         It's the language, the language of human rights where
          25       I think there is a problem.  My answer to this
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           1       question, does the HRA provide a useful framework?

           2       Is that the jury is out on it.  It should do and

           3       it's difficult to know what you'd have in its place if

           4       it wasn't there, but still I think the jury is out.  The

           5       language of human rights I find causes great confusion

           6       and misunderstanding to start with.  The use of the word

           7 "equality" in itself I found confusing at an EHRC presentation

           8       recently, when the words ‘equality’ and ‘discrimination’
           9 were used throughout.  The word ‘equality’ seemed to imply 
          10   that everyone is equal, but actually the correct expression

          11       is ‘equality and diversity ‘and we seem to forget the

          12    ‘diversity’.  In fact Trevor Phillips has said he wants to

          13   use the word ‘fairness’ not ‘equality’.  The same with the 

          14  word   ‘discrimination’.  It was used throughout the 
               presentation as being a bad

          15       word, but actually, what's bad is ‘illegal

          16       discrimination’, not ‘legal discrimination’.  We all

          17       discriminate.

          18           I think the emphasis on discrimination being

          19       altogether bad, whatever form it takes, is 

          20       something that's seriously confusing.  So the answer is 
                  it should provide a useful framework,

          21        but in practice, we find that religion and belief

          22       suffers compared to probably most of the other strands.

          23       That's at least how many perceive it, and the --

          24   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Suffers in the sense of?

          25   DR DON HORROCKS:  In the sense of being down at the bottom
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           1       of a so called hierarchy of human rights.  Now, I know

           2       that is controversial, but there's lots of evidence that

           3       it occurs in practice, and in effect, in political

           4       circles, it definitely does.  We know

           5       that Lord Lester has a campaign to ensure that

           6       religion and belief is treated differently from every

           7       other right, because he says it's an opinion, it's not

           8       what you are.  But that's very

           9       controversial.  Our argument is that if religion and

          10       belief is a human right strand, it's got to be on

          11       a level playing field with everything else.  If you want

          12       an example of what I'm saying the Lilian Ladele case is

          13       a classic example where the circumstances that case were 
                   absolutely clear. The

          14      tribunal unanimously agreed what Islington council did to

          15       that poor woman, yet now it is being appealed, because

          16       even one of your own commissioners is saying this case

          17  cannot be allowed to stand. And the Commission itself, may be
          18       criticised, because, on the day after the decision, the

          19       only article it put up on its own website was an article

          20       from the National Secular Society saying this is

          21       a terrible decision and must be overturned. But everyone

          22       who reads the case can see that it was a model of how

          23 proportionality and balancing of rights should happen in 
              practice.

          24   PROF FRANCESA KLUG:  It's interesting you say that just as

          25       an aside because we're just taking witnesses from the,
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           1       if you like, other side of the strand, as it were, that

           2       you just said is perhaps the bottom of the heap, the

           3       belief side, and they would of course take the directly

           4       opposite view that you have.

           5   DR DON HORROCKS:  Of course they would, and we've been

           6       sitting together round the table now for several years

           7       disagreeing.

           8   PROFESSOR KLUG:  At least that happens.

           9   DR DON HORROCKS:  Yes. However I don't agree with that point

          10       of view.

          11   PROFESSOR KLUG:  I understand.

          12           Can I ask the question of Mr Aziz?

          13   MOHAMMED AZIZ:  I think the framework is important, but

          14       I also think it has huge limitations.  And I think one

          15       of the huge limitations is with regards to what I

          16       mentioned earlier, and what you're seeking to address

          17       here in terms of your objectives, and that's to do with

          18       the culture of human rights.  It's not set in a culture

          19       of human rights it's not created a culture of human

          20       rights, as far as I can see, and that's the problem and

          21       I think the problem is there, is because we've failed to

          22       articulate what I call the theology and philosophy for

          23       human rights, and I know back to that phrase, just to

          24       give you an example, I am a Muslim, and done little bit

          25       of studying on some of the other Abramic faiths as well,
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           1       particularly Judaism, and in both Islam and Judaism you

           2       have the law but you have a theology and philosophy, and

           3       teachings of ethics and morality and values that go

           4       with it.

           5           And unless you have the theology, philosophy,

           6       teachings around the ethics, morality and values, going

           7       hand in hand with the law, what you end up with very

           8       soon is rituals and black letter law which create more

           9       injustice than the very things that they were put

          10       forward to do.  And I think this is what we occasionally

          11       see with the current human rights framework that we

          12       have, which is that there is no articulation of what the

          13       theology behind it is, what the philosophy behind it is,

          14       what the values behind it are.  And as a result, you get

          15       presentation of dry laws from different perspectives

          16       which battle it out with each other which produce rough

          17       justice.

          18           So I think what we need to do is step back a bit and

          19       say well, you know, what is the theology, the

          20       philosophy, what other values, what are the ethics, what

          21       is the morality behind this framework that we put

          22       together?  And I don't think that's been done

          23       sufficiently.

          24           I think, if you were to do that, then you get less

          25       of a problem with conflict of the individual rights that
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           1       are contained within the framework, simply because there

           2       would then be a culture, a spirit and spirituality under

           3       the society and therefore a better understanding of when

           4       to pursue certain rights or not, in the framework of the

           5       rights of others.

           6           However, I don't think even if you had that

           7       background, you'd get completely away from conflicts of

           8       rights, and when you do have those conflicts of rights,

           9       for example the right of young men to roam around

          10       deposited against the right of older people not to feel

          11       unsafe going out at night, et cetera et cetera, you will

          12       inevitably get those conflicts of rights deposited

          13       against each other and that's where you need specific

          14       mechanisms that need to be developed, and finessed more

          15       comprehensively, so whether it's proportionality,

          16       whether it's compromise, balance, but I think that also

          17       has to be done on evidence, and one of the discussions

          18       we had during the Kecarb(?) case was if it is impacting

          19       education, what is the evidence base for that?  Or is it

          20       just a hunch we have that it is impacting education?  So

          21       there are, despite all the theology and philosophy and

          22       morality and everything else that you may put into the

          23       background before you propose the framework and try to

          24       articulate the framework, once you've done that, there

          25       will be that conflict between rights, and that's
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           1       inevitable that I think having that background will help

           2       to reduce it.  When the conflicts arise, I think you do

           3       need to develop specific tools and those have to be used

           4       based on balance.  There is one more final thing I'd

           5       like to say, that having done all of that, the culturing

           6       and also the conflict of rights, you would probably at

           7       some point because we're a pluralist society, need to

           8       set some rights forward and say whatever the conflicts,

           9       these are the flaws of our society as a pluralist

          10       society and those have to be agreed to have the

          11       Massian(?) great speech of some sort across society.

          12   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Thank you very much.

          13   RICHARD ZIPFEl:  Could I make one other point?

          14   PROFESSOR KLUG:  On this issue?

          15   RICHARD ZIPFE:  Yes.  I think for making the human rights

          16       a good tool, the bit in disability legislation that

          17       places an obligation to make reasonable adjustments has

          18       been an ingenious addition to the law, because it

          19       focuses people, it admits that there is an interest on

          20       both sides, the employer has an interest and the

          21       employee has, if we see it in an employment context.  It

          22       focuses on how much of an adjustment one side ought to

          23       make to the other.  And it gets us into a discussion

          24       that moves into that common ground, rather than letting

          25       us get polarised back into our individual perspectives.
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           1           And I think there might be ways of adapting that

           2       sort of a principle to other areas.  I've often thought

           3       it might be adapted to the practice of religion, in

           4       places where a person wants to in some way or other

           5       practice religion and the employer doesn't feel they

           6       can.  The question of what sort of accommodation an

           7       employer could make to allow that practice to go on,

           8       feels to me like it might take us a step forward.

           9   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Thank you.

          10   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I'd like to take you on to the way in

          11       which human rights is portrayed in the media because we

          12       had a succession of witnesses who have said to us that

          13       it was very negative and I'm thinking perhaps most

          14       strongly of the campaigns for example against -- of

          15       human rights effectively are only enjoyed and exploited

          16       by criminals, terrorists, people here illegally, et

          17       cetera.  So my question would be, do you agree with that

          18       perception of how the media portrays human rights and

          19       what do you think accounts for it?

          20   MOHAMMED AZIZ:  I think you're absolutely right.  I think

          21       there is that issue, and there are three things here,

          22       and I'm sorry I'm really emphasising on this but I've

          23       emphasised it when I was on a steering group when this

          24       body was set up, and elsewhere and I just don't feel the

          25       message has got through.  But I think it's coming
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           1       because, as with religion that I've just explained, in

           2       the staff writing of the dry letters of the law because

           3       you've lost sight of what they were there for initially,

           4       what the purpose was, what the intentions are, what good

           5       they are supposed to create, et cetera.  So you start

           6       fighting over the dry letters of the law, and you only

           7       need to look at our sector to see how many conflicts and

           8       how many factions that creates.  When you start sort of

           9       fighting over the dry letter of the law, or, you know,

          10       the dry practices of the rituals.

          11           I think I just want to make three points and the

          12       first is that as a society, we just don't have a shared

          13       vision of the good that underlies human rights.  We

          14       arrived to it after a horrible, horrible period of our
          15       history with the killing of 6 million Jews in

          16       concentration camps, et cetera, and suddenly we realise

          17       that, you know, we, as a human race have lost our

          18       humanity and we need to find something that would help

          19       us to control our deepest accesses of power and evil,

          20       et cetera, and over the period of the last 50 years

          21       since the Second World War, but having started the

          22       debate possibly just before and after the first world

          23       war, we've come up with what we now call international

          24       instruments of human rights which provide for us a civic

          25       morality, a code for society practice, co but I think
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           1       we've lost sight of the debates, the deep desire for

           2       such a thing when we created it, why we created it, you

           3       know, what were the evils, the horribles that drove us

           4       to create something?  I think we've lost all of that.

           5           And that's what I mean by theology and philosophy,

           6       and with regards to human rights it's just not taught

           7       enough, you teach the Holocaust, for example, we don't

           8       teach how it relates to human rights and the coming of

           9       human rights ... so as a society we've lost sight of the

          10       history of human rights, the pains that's it's come

          11       from, and we've lost sight of the vision therefore that

          12       we want to create for the future, i.e. to avoid that 

          13       pain in the future.

          14           We also don't have a shared understanding of the

          15       values that underpin them in that history and that

          16       vision we want to get.  Finally, we just don't have the

          17       instruments to convey that?

          18   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  What instruments?

          19   MOHAMMED AZIZ:  More education of human rights in schools,

          20       particularly I mean we've made a start in citizenship

          21       education but even in citizenship education, you know,

          22       we have to struggle to see where the teachings of human

          23       rights are, but it has to be done at the schools level,

          24       it has to be done at the faith schools level where

          25       people go for Sunday schools or grammar classes in the
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           1       evening, or teachings of Jewish scriptures, whatever it

           2       is.  It has to be done at the family level, you know,

           3       and I don't see that, you know, some families may

           4       treat -- teach values but I don't see that it's

           5       explicitly done in the sense of this human rights, and

           6       these are the values and this is where it comes from and

           7       this the kind of society we want, et cetera.

           8           So I don't think we have a shared vision, I don't

           9       think we have a shared understanding and I don't think

          10       we have an agreed set of instruments by which we convey

          11       that vision and understanding ...

          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.

          13   DR DON HORROCKS:  Yes, I agree with all of that.  I think we

          14       keep repeating this same thing, that there's

          15       a difference between human rights as perceived to be

          16       selfish, me, first approach to getting what I want,

          17       compared to my rights, being dependent on my willingness 

          18       to regard others as equally important.  And that comes 

          19    from having   a philosophy or theology of human rights and 

          20     I don't see any attempt to educate the police as to why 
                  one should actually adopt that philosophy in

          21       the first place.  Why should I behave like that?  Now

          22   religion and belief used to provide such motivation and of 

          23  course we now have a vacuum in that area. I would say that of

          24       course, but I think it's a very important point.

          25           I think there are, two sides of an
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           1       answer to this: I do agree with the suggestion that

           2       there is a negative portrayal of human rights in the 

           3     media but I don't think it's just the media.  I think the 
                  media are right and
           4       this is what people actually think.  

           5       Just summarising

           6       all I can say on this, I think there is

           7       a perception that there is so much money being spent in

           8 the legal industry on human rights now.  We've created a whole

           9       industry of human rights that people see is

          10       a confrontational one where we've got a claims and

          11       counterclaims culture and the only people really

          12       benefiting from it are lawyers.  That is a perception,

          13       but it also figures in real life, because you meet

          14       people all the time now who are very suspicious about

          15       human rights.  As soon as you mention, it, suspicion

          16       descends. And then people will use the word ‘political

          17       correctness’ which they identify with human rights. And

          18       then you get very real life situations where people

          19       think they are being silenced, often by intimidation.

          20       I can tell you that this week, on Tuesday, 

          21       , I was at a school in Bristol speaking to a

          22       Chaplain who had just got through terrible period of

          23       thinking she was going to lose her job.  Why was she

          24       going to lose it?  Because a student came into her room

          25       and happened to see a book on her bookshelf that
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           1       immediately made her shout ‘homophobia’, and ran out of

           2       the staffroom and complained to the head teacher.  She

           3       was suspended immediately, only because the student saw

           4       a book on her bookshelf that the student didn't like.

           5           Now, she's been reinstated, but the effect on that

           6       individual is now she thinks she can't say anything or

           7       even have a book on her bookshelf without fear that

           8       somebody is going to complain. Human rights has got 
                   quite aggressive and
           9       intimidatory -- and the feeling is that there are some

          10       particular strands of human rights, 

          11       perhaps they have adopted a rights agenda,

          12       with a campaign that is intimidatory, that is

          13       aggressive and frightens people and makes them exist in
          14       a culture of fear, as to whether they can continue to

          15       work or live their lives normally. And so you get

          16       everything being driven underground, things are not

          17       said, things are not talked about.  If we do end up in

          18       that kind of society, and I do think from my own 
                    observation on

          19      the ground it's happening all around, I see no future for

          20       the human rights, because we will never have the

          21       openness and the engagement with one another, the making

          22       of respectful space for one other, and the acceptance of

          23       views that we don't like, but that nevertheless we have

          24       to adopt if we want it to succeed. We must accept we 
                     cannot go through life not being

          25       offended or insulted, and unless we have that openness,
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           1       I don't see that human rights framework in any way or

           2       form can be successful because we'll have a

           3       climate of imposition and once we impose human rights,

           4       then I feel that the whole project is defeated.

           5   DR MALCOLM BROWN:  I certainly agree that the media

           6       portrayal of human rights is woeful in this country.

           7       I find myself wondering sometimes if it's because

           8    human rights are perceived as having come out of Europe and

           9     so it's a proxy issue for a whole load of other political

          10       arguments.  Nonetheless, I agree very strongly with what

          11       was said, that there is a self

          12   fulfilling nature to this, in that people read that this or 
           13     that is what human rights legislation entails, often 

          14     wrongly, and then a kind of cultural misunderstanding 
                 then develops.  I remember working

          15       with personnel departments in the retail sector when the

          16       first equal opportunities law came in and personnel

          17       officers were interpreting it, not according to the law,
          18       but according to what the Daily Mail said the law was,

          19     and they believed that they couldn't do this or that, and

          20    this problem of information and perception spills over all 
                the time.

          21           So there's a massive job to do to talk about what

          22       the legislation actually is about, what it's trying to

          23       achieve, and as Aziz said, where it came from in our                

                  history.
          24       I do believe that's very important.  It's important

          25       within the churches, because some of our quite
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           1  eminent theologians have some very strong arguments about how
           2       human rights as a foundational concept is deficient in 
                theological terms. 

           3     But I keep wanting to say in their seminars when I hear 

           4     them say this, yes, but remember where human rights came 
                from.  It may not be the best there could be but it's all

           6       we've got at the moment.

           7           That said, I think some of the deficiencies of human

           8       rights as a philosophical concept on which to

           9       build do make it difficult to give the robust defence of

          10       the intended effect of human rights legislation that we 
                  ought to be giving.  

          11      It's a little bit like the market as a mechanism - human 
                   rights legislation is
          12       a mechanism for a society of strangers, as Jeremy

          13       Bentham said of the market.  And like the market it

          14       relies on a certain kind of moral sense to make it work

          15       and that moral sense comes out of something other than

          16   the philosophy itself.  So, just as markets only work if you

          17       have a prior understanding about things like truth

          18       telling, human rights legislation only works when you

          19     get some common understanding on rights, when you have 
                  something that's

          20       a residual community with some shared values that don't

          21       themselves come out of a discourse of human rights.

          22           So some of those

          23     doubts about where we can get the moral framework and the

          24       community framework to make human rights legislation

          25       work, mean some of our most --

                                            69

           1    speaking just for the church here -- our most powerful   

                 thinkers are not going to be the ones
           2       making the case for human rights most strongly.

           3       That I think is a great pity, because 

           4   the case needs to be made for what human rights are and what

           5   they’re not.  But the amount of disinformation around seems

           6    to me to be something we should address as a real priority .

           7   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.

           8  RICHARD ZIPFEL:  I can't believe I'm slightly at odds with my

           9       colleagues here.  I'm constantly disappointed and even

          10       angry at the media for everything, but the UK has a very

          11       good media at its best, at its worse, it can be as bad

          12       as anywhere else.

          13           I'm not sure that human rights gets a particularly

          14       bad press; I think it gets as bad a press as any other

          15       things get, and people do climb on the bandwagon and

          16       make the most mischief they can when it's a good story.

          17       But if you think of human rights broadly across the

          18       world, and the press that it gets, and I think that's

          19       what enters into the consciousness of the culture,

          20       America is now in a position where they want to shut

          21       down Guantanamo Bay ... the media here have never

          22       approved of Guantanamo Bay, maybe some bits of the media

          23       have at times gone along with the kind of terrorist

          24       justification.  When people in other countries are

          25       talked about as defenders of human rights, it resonates
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           1       both in the media and in the cultural consciousness.

           2       I've recently had to do a kind of history of Catholic

           3       involvement in race relations over 40 years, and I

           4       suddenly became aware of how much progress we've made as

           5      a society.  The sign, ‘no blacks, no Irish, no dogs,’ was

           6       where we were 45 years ago, and we had a series of

           7       pieces of legislation, we had 25, 35 years of the media,

           8       we are massively in a different place now, and the media

           9       has been part of that education process.

          10           So while I don't want to take the pressure off the

          11       media to improve, I am not sure human rights is any

          12       different from anything else.

          13   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Okay.  I am very conscious that we've

          14       run out of time.  I wanted to ask you if there's one

          15       thing you think the Commission should do in context of

          16       human rights which you have not already mentioned.

          17       Because you have all mentioned things that you think the

          18       Commission should be doing.  I just want to give you

          19       that opportunity, Mr Aziz?

          20   MOHAMMED AZIZ:  Just concluding words then I think there's

          21       one thing we can of from our sector: the balance that we

          22       draw between human rights and human obligations and

          23       I think that that's again part of the equation of

          24       getting it right.  I think the focus is on, you know, we

          25       are a 'me me me' society.  And the more you talk about
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           1       human rights, as rights without obligations, then people

           2       also feel that, you know, it's being directed to all the

           3       advantage of some and is there some gain for some and

           4       disadvantage for another.  So I think the more we can

           5       talk about and emphasise it, particularly in the

           6       teaching of the philosophy and theology of human rights

           7       to people, the more we can balance teachings around

           8       obligations as well as rights.  I think the better we

           9       will have an understanding of what we're talking about

          10       here and I think the better the coverage would be in the

          11       media.

          12           In our own community what we try to do is not to say

          13       that human rights is a first port of call but say that

          14       it's a safety net for society and therefore one thing we

          15       failed to emphasise I think to people with regards to

          16       the media is that when people do seek human rights, it

          17       is not advantages gotten by some, disadvantages received

          18       by others, but it is a statement about the decency of

          19       our society and that's the message we fail to get across

          20       each time.  So if there are people who are taking human

          21       rights cases with regards to Guantanamo Bay, then that's

          22       also a mark of the decency of society that as a society

          23       we don't allow that to happen.

          24           So that's the bit of the story that we failed to

          25       convey in the media or the media fails to pick up

                                            72

           1       itself.  So in terms of what I would like to see more

           2       of, is all the things I've already mentioned but also

           3       what we get from our sector, which both looking at human

           4       rights from a rights perspective, but also from an

           5       obligations perspective.

           6   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  It's interesting, there have been

           7       a couple of projects, one is the British Irish rights --

           8       British Institute of Human Rights, Ministry of Justice,

           9       human rights education project and the other is

          10       something called the Hampshire project which is running

          11       in schools in Hampshire, about rights and

          12       responsibilities, the two laying together and I believe

          13       that what is emerging is in schools, its been audited

          14       independently twice but in the schools in which these

          15       projects have run, they've found reduced bullying,

          16       enhanced participation by the children, reduced

          17       traumatism and absenteeism so we see the benefits coming

          18       through.

          19           Does anybody else want to?

          20   DR DON HORROCKS:  Just really a quick summary, I think the

          21       Commission has got a real challenge, I do value and

          22       appreciate the way that the Commission is going about

          23       its task and I think it's a real challenge.  I think if

          24       I singled one thing out, I was struck by Francesca

          25       reminding us --
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           1   PROFESSOR KLUG:  Sorry, that's the impact I have on people.

           2   DR DON HORROCKS:  She was drawing attention rightly to the

           3       fact that in the European convention of human rights

           4       that all rights are not absolute.  They are all limited.

           5       And there is a real concern in my sector that Article 9

           6       is being singled out as being the only right that has

           7       a limitation, and that there are strong moves being

           8       made as I have illustrated to you, to restrict the

           9       religion and belief right, in a way that is not being

          10       done with all the other rights.  And I suppose my

          11       message to the Commission is: can religion and belief

          12       just continue on a fair playing field? I have heard

          13       reassuring words, but I've also heard words that worry

          14       me, and so I would be wanting to make sure that

          15       Article 9 is never undermined, certainly not by this

          16       Commission.

          17   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.

          18   DR MALCOLM BROWN:  I think there's some work to be done -
          19       I wouldn't like to say exactly how it's done at this

          20       stage - on understanding how the religion and belief

          21  strand functions differently and not as an analogue of every 

          22   other strand.  There's a lot more conversation that's got to

          23       be had. I think some of it’s under way but it needs to

          24       articulate what we think equality and human

          25       rights are going to
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           1       achieve in the context of religion and belief so that 
                    it's not set up to achieve things it

           2       can't, and at the same time it's not presented as

           3       a threat to established ways of believing, and religion.

           4   RICHARD ZIPFE:  I think the Commission, among those as it

           5       were, working in this area alongside the Commission,

           6       which had included ourselves, has a job to do as a sort

           7       of referee on a football pitch, setting the tone, and

           8       encouraging people to -- I think if the quality of

           9       discussion among ourselves and the agencies that we

          10       represent, I'm talking about the whole of equalities and

          11       the human rights, and churches and everything, if we

          12       could raise our game so that our own discussions were

          13       a bit more understanding, a bit less being pushed back

          14       into our individual interest groups and a bit more

          15       finding of common ground, we might be able to help set

          16       the tone for the wider culture.

          17   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much indeed.  That's most

          18       helpful, I'm very grateful to you all for coming and

          19       it's been most interesting.

          20           We will be -- you will receive the transcript of

          21       what you have said, so you can assess whether we have

          22       accurately recorded what you've said.  You don't get an

          23       opportunity to add to it, simply to assess the accuracy.

          24       Thank you very much indeed.

          25    (2.16 pm)
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           1                  (The first meeting concluded)

